FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/7/2020 4:22 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/10/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>98863-3</u> (Court of Appeals No. 52852-5-II)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

# GEORGE JONES,

Petitioner.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
lila@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

#

# C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May a defendant be convicted of violating a no-contact order for not leaving his own home when a protected party arrives? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).
- 2. A defendant has a constitutional right to a unanimous jury. Thus, when the State files one charge but presents evidence of multiple acts, either the prosecutor must tell the jury which act to rely on during its deliberations or the court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act. The Court of Appeals found the State "elected" the contact at the home, but the prosecutor twice mentioned the earlier alleged contact during closing argument. Was Mr. Jones deprived of his constitutional right to a unanimous jury? RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- 3. The Confrontation Clause bars admission of testimonial statements of a witness who does not appear at trial. Statements are "testimonial" and subject to the Confrontation Clause if there was no ongoing emergency and the primary purpose of the statements was to establish events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution. Ms.

Norris did not appear at trial, but, over Mr. Jones's objection, the trial court admitted statements Ms. Norris made to a dispatcher that there was a protection order violation and her statements to the responding police officer about Mr. Jones's whereabouts. There was no ongoing emergency because she was the one who had gone to Mr. Jones's house in her friend's truck, and could leave with that friend. Did the trial court violate Mr. Jones's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

4. Hearsay, which is an out of court statement offered for its truth, is inadmissible unless an exception applies. Unless it is at issue in a particular case, an out of court statement is not admissible to explain why a police officer took certain actions. Over Mr. Jones's objections, the trial court permitted Deputy Hoover to testify that dispatch told him he needed to go to Mr. Jones's residence to address a protection order violation. Did the trial court violate the rule against hearsay? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

George Jones lives at 18444 Guava Street Southwest in Rochester, Washington. RP 154, 167. Virginia Norris lives in Centralia. Ex. 4-b.

A no-contact order described Ms. Norris as a "protected person" and ordered Mr. Jones: "do not contact the protected person, directly,

indirectly, in person or through others, by phone, mail, or electronic means[.]" Ex. 1 at 1.

On September 15, 2016, Ms. Norris contacted Mr. Jones by going to his home in Rochester. She then called the police to report a violation of a protection order. RP 132-33.

Deputy Ryan Hoover went to Mr. Jones's house, and eventually found Virginia Norris in the driveway. RP 131-35. He asked her where Mr. Jones was, and she responded that he had left to go to Olympia. RP 140. But Deputy Hoover saw the car he'd been told belonged to Mr. Jones parked at the house, so he asked Ms. Norris which car Mr. Jones had taken to Olympia. RP 140. At that point, Ms. Norris lowered her voice and told him "he's actually under the house watching us." RP 140-41.

Mr. Jones crawled out from under the house and eventually spoke with Deputy Hoover. According to Deputy Hoover, Mr. Jones said Ms. Norris told him she had gone to the Lewis County court earlier that day to get the no-contact order dropped, after which she gave him a ride to Centralia and dropped him off. RP 143-45. He eventually got a ride home with his roommate, Jonathan. RP 168, 173. Later that day, Ms. Norris came to his house and they got into an argument; she then called the police to report a no-contact order violation even though she was at his house. RP

145-46. She had not arrived at the house with him, but had come later in a truck with a friend. RP 153-54.

The State nevertheless charged Mr. Jones with violation of a no-contact order. CP 29. At trial, Mr. Jones disputed Deputy Hoover's claim that Mr. Jones told him he had gotten a ride to Centralia with Ms. Norris. RP 188-89. He testified the first time he saw her was when she came to his home. RP 182.

Neither Virginia Norris nor the 911 dispatcher appeared at trial. Over Mr. Jones's Confrontation Clause and hearsay objections, Deputy Hoover testified about what the dispatcher and Ms. Norris told him. CP 18-28; RP 16-20, 108-16, 132-33, 140-41.

In closing argument, the prosecutor emphasized that Mr. Jones was guilty of violating a protection order because Ms. Norris came to his house and he knew she was there. RP 268 (closing argument); RP 289 (rebuttal closing argument). But the prosecutor also twice relied on the earlier alleged contact in the car. RP 267 (closing argument); RP 284 (rebuttal closing argument). The jury found Mr. Jones guilty.

On appeal, Mr. Jones argued he was entitled to a new trial because (1) his constitutional right to a unanimous jury was violated when the State presented two separate alleged bases for conviction but the jury was not told it had to be unanimous as to either; (2) his constitutional right to

confront the witnesses against him was violated when the trial court admitted Ms. Norris's testimonial statements in her absence; and (3) the admission of those statements also violated the rule against hearsay.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. It found the State elected the contact in the home as the basis for conviction, despite transcripts to the contrary and despite the dubious validity of a conviction based on merely existing in one's home. Op. at 4-5. It ruled Ms. Norris's statements were not testimonial because the primary purpose was to respond to an "ongoing emergency," even though Ms. Norris was at *Mr. Jones's* home and could have left. Op. at 7-8. The court did not mention the hearsay argument.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals endorsed a conviction for violation of a no-contact order based on Mr. Jones's failure to leave his own home when the protected party, who did not live there, went to his house.

This Court should grant review because this case presents a matter of substantial public interest and a significant constitutional problem: The Court of Appeals endorsed convicting a person of violating a no-contact order for simply being in his own home and not leaving when a protected party arrives.

Mr. Jones could not raise a sufficiency challenge in the Court of Appeals because the State *also* relied on an alleged act that *would be* a valid basis for conviction if the jury had unanimously agreed it occurred. But the Court of Appeals rejected the unanimity argument by claiming the State relied *solely* on the contact in Mr. Jones's home. This conclusion is contrary to the record, but it also raises serious statutory and constitutional concerns. Taking the Court of Appeals at its word, Mr. Jones was convicted of violating a no-contact order because Ms. Norris went to his house and he did not leave his own home.

RCW 10.99.050(2)(a) prohibits "willful" violation of a no-contact order. The offense has "three essential elements: the willful contact with another; the prohibition of such contact by a valid no-contact order; and the defendant's knowledge of the no-contact order." *State v. Clowes*, 104 Wash. App. 935, 943–44, 18 P.3d 596 (2001), *disapproved of on other grounds by State v. Nonog*, 169 Wn.2d 220, 237 P.3d 250 (2010). In other words, the State must prove "a purposeful act" and the defendant "must have intended the contact[.]" *State v. Sisemore*, 114 Wn. App. 75, 78, 55 P.3d 1178 (2002); *see also State v. Johnson*, 2 Wash.App.2d 1026, \*4 (2018)<sup>1</sup> (provision directing defendant to "not contact" protected party

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> *Johnson* is unpublished. Mr. Jones cites it as persuasive authority pursuant to GR 14.1(a).

requires proof of "action," i.e., that defendant "engaged in the volitional or purposeful act of contacting" the protected party).

The above statutory construction holdings are consistent with the constitutional rule that "criminal penalties may be inflicted only if the accused has committed some act, has engaged in some behavior, which society has an interest in preventing[.]" *Martin v. City of Boise*, 920 F.3d 584, 616 (9th Cir.), *cert. denied sub nom. City of Boise, Idaho v. Martin*, 140 S. Ct. 674, 205 L. Ed. 2d 438 (2019) (prohibiting prosecution of individuals for sleeping outside when such individuals have no other home or available shelter); U.S. Const. amends. VIII, XIV. Indeed, even if the statute at issue did not have the "willful" element, it would still require proof of some act. "Fundamental to our notion of an ordered society is that people are punished only for their own conduct. ... We punish people for what they do, not for what others do to them." *State v. Eaton*, 168 Wn.2d 476, 481–82, 229 P.3d 704 (2010).

The Court of Appeals' holding is contrary to these statutory and constitutional rules, and raises an issue of substantial public concern. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

2. Mr. Jones was deprived of the right to a unanimous jury verdict guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and article I, sections 21 and 22.

The Court of Appeals was also wrong as a matter of fact, because the prosecutor did not elect the contact in Mr. Jones's home. Rather, the State presented evidence and argument that Mr. Jones was also with Ms. Norris earlier in the day. But the jury was not told it had to agree unanimously on which contact formed the basis for the conviction. This failure violated Mr. Jones's constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict.

a. Where a single count is charged but evidence of multiple acts is presented, the constitutional right to a unanimous jury requires that either the State elect one act or the court instruct the jury that it must unanimously agree on the specific act committed.

When the State presents evidence of multiple acts, any one of which could form the basis of one count charged, either the prosecutor must tell the jury which act to rely on during its deliberations or the court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). This rule does not apply to a "continuing course of conduct," but if there is "evidence that the charged conduct occurred at different times and places[,]" either the prosecutor must make clear which incident it is relying on or the court must instruct

the jury on the unanimity requirement. *State v. Brown*, 159 Wn. App. 1, 14, 248 P.3d 518 (2010).

If the prosecutor fails to elect an act and the court fails to instruct the jury that it must unanimously agree that a particular act occurred, some jurors may end up relying on one act or incident and some jurors may end up relying on another, "resulting in a lack of unanimity on all of the elements necessary for a valid conviction." *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 411. Thus, "failure to follow one of these options is error, violative of a defendant's state constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict and United States constitutional right to a jury trial." *Id.* at 409; Const. art. I, \$\\$ 21, 22; U.S. Const. amend. VI.<sup>2</sup>

b. Here, the State presented evidence of two separate incidents but the prosecutor did not elect one of them and the court did not instruct the jury on the unanimity requirement.

Here, the State presented evidence of two separate alleged incidents, either of which could have formed the basis for the single count of violation of a no-contact order. However, the prosecutor did not elect one in closing argument and the court did not instruct the jury that it had to unanimously agree on the specific incident which constituted the violation.

10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The unanimity instruction is often referred to as a "*Petrich* instruction," based on *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984).

Deputy Hoover testified that: (1) he encountered Mr. Jones and Ms. Norris at Mr. Jones's home in the evening after being dispatched at 5:47 p.m., and (2) Mr. Jones said Ms. Norris had driven him to Centralia earlier that day. RP 131-45. Deputy Hoover testified that Ms. Norris did not stay with Mr. Jones in Centralia, but dropped him off. RP 145. It was later that day, in the early evening, that Ms. Norris went to Mr. Jones's house with another woman in a truck. RP 153. Thus, the evidence the State presented did not constitute a continuing course of conduct, but two separate incidents.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' opinion, the prosecutor did not elect one of the incidents; she did not tell the jury which act it should rely on in deliberations. Instead, in closing argument the prosecutor discussed both the alleged violation in the car early in the day and the alleged violation in the house in the evening. RP 267, 268, 284, 289. Moreover, the court did not provide a *Petrich* instruction; it did not instruct the jury that all 12 jurors had to unanimously agree that Mr. Jones violated the order by riding in a car with Ms. Norris early in the day or that he violated the order by being with her at his house in the evening. CP 31-44. Thus, Mr. Jones's constitutional right to a unanimous jury was violated. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 409.

Because the right to jury unanimity is an important constitutional guarantee and because this issue is intertwined with the first issue raised above, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

- 3. The trial court erred in admitting testimony in violation of the Confrontation Clause and the rule against hearsay.
  - a. The court erred under the Confrontation Clause by admitting Ms. Norris's testimonial statements in her absence.

The federal and state constitutions guarantee defendants the right to be confronted with the witnesses against them. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 821, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006). The Confrontation Clause "bars 'admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he [or she] was unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination." *Id.* (quoting *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 53-54, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004)). Statements are "testimonial" and subject to the Confrontation Clause if the circumstances objectively indicate there was no "ongoing emergency" at the time the statements were made and that the "primary purpose" of the exchange was to establish events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution. *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 822.

Here, over Mr. Jones's objections, the court admitted multiple statements allegedly made by Virginia Norris, even though Ms. Norris did not appear for trial and Mr. Jones had not had a prior opportunity for cross-examination. CP 18-28; RP 16-20, 108-16, 132-33, 140-41. Those statements were:

- 1. Deputy Hoover's testimony that dispatch told him (based on what Ms. Norris told them) that he needed to go to Mr. Jones's residence to address a protection order violation; RP 110, 132;
- 2. Deputy Hoover's testimony that Ms. Norris first told him Mr. Jones had left for Olympia, but then lowered her voice and said he was under the house watching them; RP 111-15, 140-41.

The trial court erred because, as defense counsel argued, these statements were testimonial.

Indeed, as to the statements to dispatch, the State *conceded* Ms. Norris's 911 call was not admissible if she failed to testify, because she very calmly reported an alleged violation of a no-contact order based on her presence at Mr. Jones's house. RP 9; CP 18-24. Yet, inexplicably, the court permitted Deputy Hoover to testify that dispatch told him there was a no-contact order violation even though dispatch was simply repeating the claim Ms. Norris made when she called 911.

Neither Ms. Norris nor the dispatcher appeared at trial. As the State properly conceded, there was no ongoing emergency; rather, Ms.

Norris was simply reporting an alleged no-contact order violation.

Objectively viewed, the primary purpose of her statement to dispatch was to establish events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution. Thus, the statement was testimonial and should not have been admitted given Ms. Norris's absence. *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 822.

The same is true about Ms. Norris's statements to Deputy Hoover regarding Mr. Jones's location. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' conclusion, there was no ongoing emergency – Mr. Jones was *at his own home*, which he did not share with Ms. Norris. Ms. Norris had arrived at the house in a truck with a friend, and she could have left in the same truck, which was still there (as was the friend). Alternatively, Deputy Hoover could have offered her a ride home. Her statements regarding his location simply served to support a prosecution for a violation of a nocontact order. They were testimonial, and should have been excluded given Ms. Norris's absence at trial.

Despite defense counsel's thorough briefing and argument on the Confrontation Clause, the trial court resolved the issue by relying on the hearsay rules. It ruled the statement from dispatch regarding the violation of a no-contact order was admissible because it was "not hearsay," RP 110, and ruled Ms. Norris's statements about Mr. Jones's location were admissible under the "present sense impression" exception to the rule

against hearsay. RP 114-15. The court did so even though defense counsel explained, "before *Crawford* it may have been sufficient to say that these statements would come in under a hearsay exception. After *Crawford* I think the court has to do an additional analysis." RP 112-13. Counsel explained, as he had in his pleadings, that the question for Confrontation Clause purposes is whether the statements are testimonial. RP 112-13. The court erred in admitting the statements and in doing so based on a hearsay analysis. *See Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 61 ("we do not think the Framers meant to leave the Sixth Amendment's protection to the vagaries of the rules of evidence"). For this reason, too, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

b. The court erred under the rule against hearsay by admitting Deputy Hoover's testimony that he was told to report to the house because of a protection order violation.

Deputy Hoover's testimony that he was told he needed to go to the residence because it "was dispatched as a protection order violation" should have been excluded for the independent reason that its admission violated the rules of evidence – specifically, the rule against hearsay. RP 132. "Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of

the matter asserted. ER 801(c). Hearsay is inadmissible at trial unless an exception applies. ER 802.

The trial court ruled the statement from dispatch was "not hearsay" because it was "not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted" but rather "to establish why Deputy Hoover acted the way he did." RP 110.

This was error, because "why Deputy Hoover acted the way he did" was not an issue at trial.

As trial counsel noted, *State v. Aaron* should have resolved the issue. 57 Wn. App. 277, 787 P.2d 949 (1990); CP 26. There, defense counsel moved to exclude testimony from the investigating officer that the defendant was seen with a jacket associated with a burglary. *Id.* at 279. The officer had received that information from dispatch, not through direct observation, and no witness who observed the defendant would testify to seeing him with the jacket. *Id.* The State claimed the statements would not be offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted but to show "why [the officer] acted as he did." The trial court overruled the defense objection and allowed the testimony, but the appellate court reversed. *Id.* at 279-80. The court explained, "the officer's state of mind in reacting to the information he learned from dispatcher is not in issue" and therefore was "not relevant for another [non-hearsay] purpose." *Id.* at 280. If testimony about historical facts were necessary, the officer could have simply

testified he acted upon "information received." *Id.* at 281. But the admission of hearsay was error. *Id.*

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