FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/4/2020 8:56 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98863-3 COA No. 52852-5-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

GEORGE F. JONES,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable James J. Dixon, Judge Cause No. 16-1-01621-34

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
C. <u>ARGUMENT</u> 9
The issue of whether a person can be convicted of violation of a no-contact order when the violation occurs at their residence was not litigated in the Court of Appeals and should not be considered on
review9
The Court of Appeals correctly decided the issue of jury unanimity based on the existing case law10
3. The Court of Appeals followed existing precedent provided by this Court and the United States Supreme Court when it affirmed the trial court's
decision to admit statements of Ms. Norris11
D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Decisions

Heg v. Alldrege,
157 Wn.2d 154,137 P.3d 9 (2006)10
<u>In re Pers. Restaint of Stockwell,</u> 179 Wn.2d 588, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014)10
<u>State v. Coleman,</u> 159 Wn.2d 509,150 P.3d 1126 (2007)10
<u>State v. Kitchen,</u> 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988)10
<u>State v. Koslowski,</u> 166 Wn.2d 409, 209 P.3d 479 (2009)11
<u>State v. Salinas,</u> 119 Wn.2d 192, 829 P.2d 1068_(1992)9
<u>State v. Smith,</u> 159 Wn.2d 778,154 P.3d 873 (2007)11
U.S. Supreme Court Decisions
<u>Davis v. Washington,</u> 547 U.S. 813, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006)12
Statutes and Rules
RAP 2.5(a)10
RAP 13.4(b)9
Wash. Const. art. I, §2111
Wash. Const. art. I § 2212
U.S. Const. amend VI12

A. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.</u>

- Whether this Court should accept review of a sufficiency of the evidence argument that was not raised in or decided by the Court of Appeals.
- 2. Whether this Court should review a jury unanimity claim where this case has provided guidance on the issue and the Court of Appeals properly followed that guidance.
- 3. Whether this Court should review Jones' Confrontation Clause claim where the Court of Appeals properly followed the precedent set by this Court and the United States Supreme Court in finding that the statements elicited at trial were non-testimonial.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On September 15, 2016, Thurston County Sheriff's Office Deputy Ryan Hoover responded to the appellant, George Jones', residence for a possible violation of protection order. RP 131-132. Deputy Hoover was responding to a reported violation involving Jones and Virginia Norris. RP 133. When Deputy Hoover arrived, he did not see anybody around the house at first, but he did see

1

¹ The jury trial that occurred December 21-22, 2016, is reported in two sequentially paginated volumes by court reporter Ralph Beswick and will be referred to herein collectively as RP. The sentencing hearing December 26, 2018, reported by court reporter Kathyn Beehler will be referred to as 2 RP.

Jones' vehicle. RP 133. Deputy Hoover walked around behind the shop building on the property and made contact with a female who was not Norris. RP 134.

After checking the perimeter of the property around the yard, Deputy Hoover was in the driveway discussing what to do next when Ms. Norris made contact with him. RP 135. Deputy Hoover identified Virginia Norris as the person who contacted him by comparing a certified copy of her driver's license. RP 136. Deputy Hoover noted that Norris appeared "somewhat apprehensive" when she approached him and "seemed a little bit scared to talk to" him. RP 139-140. When Deputy Hoover asked her "Where's Mr. Jones at?" Norris told him "that he had probably left to Olympia." RP 140.

Deputy Hoover then pointed out that Jones' car was there and asked which vehicle he had left in, to which Norris lowered her voice and told Deputy Hoover "he's actually under the house watching us." RP 140-141. Deputy Hoover noticed that Norris appear nervous to tell him. RP 141. Jones was detained by other deputies near the crawl space of the residence. RP 142. Deputy Hoover testified that Jones was "completely dirty across the front of him, his face. Very sweaty." RP 142-143.

Deputy Hoover interviewed Jones, who acknowledged that he knew that there was a no contact order in effect where he was the respondent and Norris was the protected party. RP 143. Deputy Hoover testified:

. . . he had told me that – that he had actually been with her earlier in the day in a vehicle with her, and he made comments that she had gone to the Lewis County courts earlier in that day and had - - when she had returned had told him that the order had been dropped, and but he was suspicious that it had been dropped.

RP 143. Deputy Hoover testified that Jones "said he caused a little bit of a ruckus and things hit the fan." RP 146. When asked about where he was when law enforcement arrived, Jones told Deputy Hoover, "that he had been under the house, but he had panicked when he saw" law enforcement. RP 146. Deputy Hoover later clarified that Jones "admitted that he was hiding under the house." RP 155-156.

The State admitted the Lewis County Superior Court no contact order, in which Jones was the respondent and Norris was the protected party. RP 147, Ex. 1. The order prohibited contact with Norris and indicated that Jones and Norris had been intimate partners. RP 148-149.

Jones testified in his defense. RP 166. Jones testified that he saw movement in his backyard and Norris and another person were there without permission. RP 176-177. Jones indicated that he told Norris to leave, and she started yelling at him. RP 178. He stated that "there was a ruckus back and forth." RP 179. He then said that he attempted to leave in his car, but he did not leave. RP 179-180. He testified that he did not leave because he believed the police were coming. RP 180. He testified that Norris tailed him around the house. RP 181.

Jones admitted that he was aware of the no contact order. RP 182. Jones eventually testified that he "panicked" and went out of the window to get away from Norris and she followed him out of the window. RP 184. He stated that he then went into the cellar underneath the house and she followed him "only part of the way." RP 185. Jones denied that he told law enforcement that he had been with Norris earlier in the day. RP 191-192; 205. He indicated that Norris had informed him that she was calling the police. RP 192.

Prior to trial in the matter, Jones, through his defense counsel, filed a motion in limine seeking to exclude statements made by Norris to law enforcement pursuant to the confrontation clause if Norris failed to appear for trial. CP 18-19. The State countered that Norris' statements were both present sense impressions and excited utterances. CP 13-16.

The trial court addressed the admissibility of Norris' statements to law enforcement at the start of the trial. RP 15. Defense counsel indicated, "my motion in limine addressed two circumstances, the 911 call and potential testimony of Deputy Hoover." RP 16. The prosecutor indicated:

There are two things that the state intends to get in as far as through Deputy Hoover, and as an offer of proof I'll tell the court I intend to explore with Deputy Hoover the fact that he goes to the residence based on calls from dispatch, and that's how he got the address, that's how he believed there was a potential violation of a no-contact order, and that he was looking for Virginia Norris and George Jones. That's the extent of what I expect to get in from him as far as what he received from dispatch.

RP 18-19. The prosecutor continued:

I then expect to ask him about his contact with Ms. Norris initially, where the evidence I believe will show that they were at the residence looking for Mr. Jones and Ms. Norris, that they were at the residence, Ms. Norris walks from a different residence than where he was, walks up to him. They ask – he asks her, "Are you Ms. Norris?" She says "Yes." He asks, "Where is Mr. Jones?" She says, "He's headed to Olympia." Then lowers her voice, appears scared to Deputy Hoover, and says, "He's hiding under the house watching us." Those are the extent of the statements

from Ms. Norris that the state intends to get in - - to ask.

RP 19. The prosecutor then stated:

The first set through dispatch the state believes are non-testimonial in nature. While they are hearsay, they are not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, simply to explain why Deputy Hoover was at the residence at all, and the second set I do believe would fall under either the excited utterance or present sense impression.

RP 19-20.

With regard to the statements to dispatch, the trial court stated:

The court will find that the state may offer - - may allow Deputy Hoover to testify that he received information from dispatch that resulted in Deputy Hoover responding to that location seeking Mr. Jones and/or Ms. Norris for a potential violation of a protection order or no contact order, whatever the order is at issue. The court makes that ruling because the court finds such statement is not hearsay. It is not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted; rather, it is offered by the state to establish why Deputy Hoover acted the way he did.

RP 110.

With regard to the statements made by Norris directly to Deputy Hoover, the trial court stated:

The court has considered the rules of evidence, and this court is familiar with the rules of evidence. This court considers Evidence rule 803 dispositive. 803 subsection (a)(1), that rule provides in part that a

present sense impression is not excluded by the hearsay rule, and a present sense impression is defined as a statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter.

RP 114. The court continued:

The court is not at this point convinced that an excited utterance exception would be appropriate because the court hasn't heard any offer of proof with respect to how and under what circumstances Ms. Norris was making that statement to Deputy Hoover, in other words, under what mental condition or then existing state of mind she was in. However, it does appear to the court that the statement at issue from Ms. Norris was a statement describing or explaining an event or a condition, in this case the whereabouts allegedly of Mr. Jones, made while the declarant, in this case Ms. Norris, was perceiving the event or condition. It's this court's understanding that the state's offer of proof is that Ms. Norris made those statements - - or that statement to Deputy Hoover while Mr. Jones was on the premises.

RP 114-115. The trial court allowed the state to elicit the limited testimony from Deputy Hoover. RP 115.

During opening statements, the prosecutor described the no contact order violation at issue in the case, stating:

[Deputy Hoover] was dispatched to a call arising out of an address in Rochester belonging to Mr. Jones. And you'll hear that Ms. Norris was at the residence and Mr. Jones was at the residence. And you'll hear - and you'll see the no-contact order that's - - that was in place at that time, and you'll see that Mr. Jones

having any contact direct or otherwise with Ms. Norris is prohibiting by that order.

RP 129.

During her closing argument, the prosecutor elaborated on the extent of the violation that occurred at the residence in Rochester, stating, "This act occurred in the State of Washington. We've heard a lot of testimony from both Mr. Jones and Deputy Hoover that this occurred at Mr. Jones' residence on Guava Street in Rochester." RP 262. Later the prosecutor stated, "Mr. Jones has gotten on the stand and admitted that Virginia Norris was at his residence and they had contact." RP 264. After discussing the evidence that demonstrated that Jones knowingly contacted Ms. Norris, the prosecutor stated, "He knew Ms. Norris was at his house. He knew that she was at his house when law enforcement came because he'd been with her all day. And that's what he told law enforcement." RP 268. The prosecutor concluded her rebuttal closing argument stating, "He knew Ms. Norris was there. He knew he was having direct contact with her, and he hid under the house trying to avoid being caught by law enforcement. The State asks that you return a verdict of guilty." RP 290.

Jones was convicted of felony violation of a no contact order.

RP 297-298; 315; CP 45, 46, 52. Jones appealed, and Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction. He now seeks review.

C. ARGUMENT.

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only for the reasons set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Jones focuses his argument on RAP 13.4(b)(3), which allows review if "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved," and RAP 13.4(b)(4) which allows review "if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." The Petition does not justify the acceptance of review.

1. The issue of whether a person can be convicted of violation of a no-contact order when the violation occurs at their residence was not litigated in the Court of Appeals and should not be considered on review.

Jones argues that the fact that Jones' conviction for a violation of no contact order that occurred at his home presents a matter of significant public interest and a significant constitutional problem. Petition for Review at 6. Contrary to Jones' argument, Jones could have raised a sufficiency of the evidence argument at the Court of Appeals and chose not to do so. The jury instructions

properly informed the jury that a violation must be knowingly committed. CP 38-40.

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Here, Jones' statements to law enforcement, combined with the fact that he was found hiding from law enforcement at the scene more than justified the jury's finding that Jones had knowingly violated the no contact order. RP 142-143, 146.

There is no basis for this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals on the basis argued by Jones. This Court is not required to consider an issue raised for the first time in a petition for review. RAP 2.5(a); <u>Heg v. Alldrege</u>, 157 Wn.2d 154, 162, 137 P.3d 9 (2006). Jones has not provided justification for this Court to do so.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly decided the issue of jury unanimity based on the existing case law.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the State relied on a single act to support Jones' conviction. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, No. 52852-5-II, at 5. In so doing, the Court of Appeals relied on this

Court's decisions in State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988), abrogated on other grounds, In re Pers. Restaint of Stockwell, 179 Wn.2d 588, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014); and State v. Coleman, 159 Wn.2d 509, 511-12, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007). The decision of the Court of Appeals was supported by the record. The State repeatedly noted that the incident in question was that which was observed by Deputy Hoover at the Rochester residence. RP 129, 262, 290.

The State agrees that jury unanimity is a significant issue of constitutional law. Wash. Const. art. I, §21; State v. Smith, 159 Wn.2d 778, 783, 154 P.3d 873 (2007). However, this Court has provided guidance on the issue, that was followed by the Court of Appeals in this case. There is no basis upon which this Court should accept review.

3. The Court of Appeals followed existing precedent provided by this Court and the United States Supreme Court when it affirmed the trial court's decision to admit statements of Ms. Norris.

This Court provided guidance to the trial courts and the Court of Appeals on deciding when a statement is testimonial for purposes of the confrontation clause in <u>State v. Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d 409, 418, 209 P.3d 479 (2009). The Court of Appeals

properly applied that guidance to the statements made by Ms.

Norris to police Dispatch and to Deputy Hoover. Unpublished

Opinion, at 7-8. There was no violation of the confrontation clause.

The State agrees that Confrontation Clause is a significant

issue of constitutional law. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const.

art. I § 22; Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 821, 126 S.Ct.

2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006). The decision of the Court of

Appeals both acknowledge the law in this regard and applied the

law as set forth in the United States Supreme Court and this Court.

There is no basis upon which this Court should accept review on

this issue.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

For the reasons included herein, the State respectfully

requests that this Court deny review of the decision of the Court of

Appeals.

Respectfully submitted this 4th day of September, 2020.

Joseph J.A. Jackson, WSBA# 37306

Attorney for Respondent

12